Plaintiff/Appellant (hereinafter "PlaintifF), by and through the undersigned 

attorneys, hereby requests Oral Argument in the instant appeal of the Circuit Court of 

Kanawha County, West Virginia's Orders granting Defendants Marmet Health Care 

Center, Inc.'s and Robin L. Sutphin's Motion to Dismiss pursuant to the mandatory 

arbitration provisions of the Admissions agreement regarding Plaintiff and Defendant 

Canoe Hollow Properties, LLC's Motion to Dismiss. For the reasons set forth herein, 

Plaintiff submits that his appeal is well taken and that the Circuit Court's Orders should 

be reversed and Plaintiff's cause against all of the Defendants reinstated. In support

FACTS OF THE CASE 

Clarence Brown, at the age of 46, was admitted to Marmet Health Care Center 

on or about April 27, 1996. He remained a resident of the facility until May 16, 2007. 

During his residency, Clarence Brown suffered multiple pressure sores, dehydration, 

malnutrition, contractu res, aspiration pneur.nonia, and infections.,' He ultimately died as 

2 



a result of these injuries on June 10, 2008. Eight years into his residency, on March 26, 

2004, Defendants had Mr. Brown's brother, Clayton Brown, sign an "Admissions 

Agreement" which purportedly contained a mandatory arbitration provision. 

Plaintiff filed his initial Complaint in this matter on January 7, 2008, against the 

owners, operators, and managers of Marmet Health Care Center, Inc. Plaintiff filed an 

amended Complaint on July 2; 2008, and completed service on Defendants on August 4 

and August 18, 2008, respectively. Plaintiff reached a settlement agreement with the 

Genesis Defendants shortly thereafter. However, Defendants Marmet Health Care 

Center, Inc., Canoe Hollow Properties, LLC, and Robin L. Sutphin were not part of this 

settlement agreement. Further, these Defendants failed to file an answer although 

properly served. Plaintiff filed an application for default on September 30,2008, and 

subsequently moved for default judgment. The application was later withdrawn. 

Defendants Marmet Health Care Center, Inc., Canoe Hollow Properties, LLC, 

and Robin L. Sutphin ultimately answered Plaintiffs Amended Complaint. 

Subsequently, Defendant Canoe Hollow Properties mov~d for dismissal of the claims 

against it. This Motion was heard by the Circuit Court, was granted, and is part of the 

instant appeal. Additionally, the parties conducted depositions and worked together 

pursuant to an agreed schedUling order, exchanging written discovery. On April 7, 

2009, Defendants Marmet Health Care Center, Inc., Canoe Hollow Properties, LLC, and 

Robin L. Sutphin served their Motion to Dismiss pursuant to the mandatory arbitration 

provisions of the Admission agreement regarding Plaintiff. Following a hearing, this 

motion was also granted, thus comprising the remainder of the instant appeal. Within 

the appropriate time limits provided by West Virginia law, Plaintiff filed his Petition for 

Appeal in this matter which was granted by this Court on March 4, 2010. 
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ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO 
DISMISS AND ORDERING THIS MAnER TO ARBITRA 1"ION . 

. a. The Circuit Court failed to find that the arbitration agreement violates 
West Virginia law. . 

b. The Circuit Court failed to find that Defendants waived the right to 
compel arbitration. 

c. The Circuit Court failed to find that the arbitration agreement is 
unenforceable. 

i. The Circuit Court failed to find a lack of consideration for the 
document at issue. 

ii. The Circuit Court failed to find that the purported arbitration 
agreement is an unconscionable contract of adhesion. 

iii. The Circuit Court failed to find that Defendants breached their 
fiduciary duty to Clarence Brown. 

iv. The Circuit Court failed to find that the purported admisSion 
agreement only names "Marmet Health Care Center" as a party 
and thus cannot require Plaintiff to arbitrate his claims against 
the other Defendants. 

v. The Circuit Court failed to find that even if Defendants' 
arbitration clause were valid, it is impossible to conduct 
arbitration according to its own terms. 

vi. The Circuit Court failed to find that any decision on the merits 
of Defendants' motion should be stayed pending completion 
of discovery and depositions pertinent to the arbitration issue. 

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANT CANOE HOLLOW 
PROPERTIES, LLC'S MOTION TO DISMISS 

a. The Circuit Court failed to apply the proper legal standard and accept 
all the well-pleaded allegations in Plaintiff's Complaint as true and 
draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the Plaintiff; 
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LEGAL ARGUMENT 

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO 
[)ISMISS AND OR[)ERING THIS MA ITER TO ARBITRATION. 

a. ·fhe Circuit Court failed to find that the arbitration agreement in this 
matter violates West Virginia law, specifically W. Va. Code § 16-5C-
1S(c). 

42 C.F.R. § 483.10 requires that nursing facilities "protect and promote" the rights 

of each resident. Moreover, 42 C.F.R. § 483.10(a)(2) prohibits a nursing facility from 

interfering with a resident's exercise of his or her rights. Similarly, the West Virginia 

legislature enacted certain laws to "ensure protection of the rights and dignity" of 

nursing home residents. See W. Va. Code § 16-5C-1. Pursuant to such protections, 

nursing home residents who are deprived of "any right or benefit under, created, or 
. , 

established for the well-,being of this resident by the terms of any contract, by any state 

statute or rule, or by any applicable federal statute or regulation," may file suit for such 

deprivations. W. Va. Code § 16-5C-15(c). That section further states that "Any waiver 

by a resident or his or her legal representative of the right to commence an action 

under this section, whether oral or in writing, shall be null and void as· contrary to 

public policy." W. Va. Code § 16-5C-15(c), emphasis added. This section further 

provides that in addition to compensatory damages sufficient to compensate the 

resident for injuries, and punitive damages where the deprivation of any right or benefit· 

is found to have been willful or in reckless disregard of the lawful rights of the resident, 

"a resident may also maintain an action pursuant to this section for any other type of 

relief, including injunctive and declaratory relief, permitted by law." Id., emphasis 

added. 

Rule 3 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure states that "a civil action is 
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commenced by filing a complaint with the court." W. Va. R. Civ. P. 3(a), emphasis 

added. Further, an examination of W. Va. Code § 16-5C finds repeated references to 

actions being brought in Circuit Courts. See W. Va. Code § 16-5C-1 et seq. Most 

importantly, some of the relief provided for in § 16-5C-15(c), including injunctive and 

declaratory relief, can only be awarded by a Circuit Court. See generally W. Va. Code 

§ 53-5-1 et seq; W. Va. Code § 53-5-1 ("Every judge of a circuit court shall have general 

jurisdiction in awarding injunctions, whether the judgment or proceeding enjoined be in 

or out of his circuit, or the party against whose proceeding the injunction be asked 

reside in or out of the same.") Thus, W. Va. Code § 16-5C-15(c) clearly precludes a 

contracted change of forum or other waiver that would limit a Plaintiffs right to 

commence an action in a court of law. 

··Thus, Linder West Virginia· law, a resident of a nursing home, like ML Brown; or 

his legal representative, may not waive any right to commence an action under W. Va. 

Code § 16-'5C-15, as the statute states that any such attempted waiver "shall be null 

and void." See W. Va. Code § 16-5C-15(c). Further, such an action may pursue 

specific remedies, at least some of which could not be awarded through arbitration, 

mediation, or other alternative dispute resolution ·procedures. The statute also 

proclaims a public policy of protecting residents' constitutional rights, one of 

'. 

which is certainly a right to trial by jury. Any deprivation of that or any other 

Constitutional right, whether by arbitration agreement or otherwise, violates West 

Virginia law. 

Other states have also recognized and. upheld public policy reasons for 

protecting nursing home residents from arbitration agreements when residents' rights 
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statutes provide for such actions to be brought in a court of law. The Illinois Court of 

Appeals recently declared a nursing home arbitration agreement to be unenforceable on 

virtually identical grounds. See Carter v. SSC Odin Operating Co., LLC, 885 N.E.2d 

1204 (III.Ct. App. 2008); appeal denied Carter v. SSC Odin Operating Co., LLC, 897 

N.E.2d 250 (III. 2008); cert. denied SSC Odin Operating Co., LLC v. Carter, 129 S.Ct. 

2734 (U.S. 2009). By denying certiorari, the United States Supreme Court has implicitly 

approved of the Carter decision, thereby enforcing its role as persuasive authority for 

other states' courts. 

In Carter, two "Health Care Arbitration Agreements" were executed by a "legal 

representative" in connection with a resident's admission to a nursing home. The trial 

judge concluded that the agreements were not enforceable because they were "in direct 

violation of emphatically stated public policy." Id. 

The Illinois statutes examined by the Carter Court provide: 

Any waiver by a resident or his legal representative of the right to 
commence an action under Sections 3-601 through 3-607, whether oral or 
in writing, shall be null and void, and without legal force or effect. 

210 ILCS 45/3-606 (West 2006); and 

Any party to an action brought under Sections 3-601 through 3-607 shall be 
entitled to a trial by jury and any waiver of the right to a trial by a jury, 
whether oral or in writing, prior to the commencement of an action, shall be 
null and void, and without legal force or effect. 

210 ILCS 45/3- 607 (West 2006). 

In affirming the decision of the trial court, the Illinois Court of Appeals wrote: 

First, neither section 3-606 nor section 3-607 mentions arbitration 
agreements at all, nor by their terms are they limited to those agreements. 
The sections, by their explicit terms, apply equally to all contracts 
attempting to restrict the right of nursing home residents to 
··commence an action" pursuant to the Nursing Home Care Act or to 
waive the right to a trial by a jury in an action commenced pursuant to the 
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Nursing Home Care Act, regardless of whether the contract involves 
arbitration .... Second, to the extent that the sections may void agreements· 
calling for arbitration,this is an incidental, tangential effect of the sections, 
not· their primary purpose, and so the sections can hardly be said to 
"specifically target arbitration agreements." To the contrary, the sections 
apply to all contracts involving nursing home residents, not merely to 
contracts invoking arbitration .... Although it is certainly true that if the 
Nursing Home Care Act expressly directed its prohibitions only at 
arbitration agreements it would, as the defendant contends, run afoul 
of the Federal Arbitration Act, the Nursing Home Care Act does no 
such thing. Applying the Casarotto and Thomas rule to the facts in this 
case, we conclude that because the public policy expressed in sections 3-
606 and 3-607 concerns the validity, revocability, and enforceability of 
contracts generally and does not specifically target arbitration agreements, 
it presents a legitimate state law contract defense of a violation of public· 
policy to the agreements and so voids the agreements. 

Carter v. SSC Odin Operating Co., LLC, 885 N.E.2d at 1208 (emphasis added). 

The Court in Carter recognized the rule set forth in Doctor's Associates, Inc v. 

Casarotto, 517 U.S. 581, 116 S.Ct. 1652 (1996) and Perry v. Thomas, 482 U.S. 483, 

107 S.Ct. 2520 (1987) that "state law is inapplicable and is not preempted by the 

Federal Arbitration Act if that law arose to govern issues concerning the validity, 

revocability, and enforceability of contracts generally." Carter, 885 N.E.2d at 1209. Like 

the Illinois statutes examined in Carter, the West Virginia statutes cited above. declare a 

public policy for the· protection of the rights of West Virginia nursing home residents. 

They do not expressly limit or otherwise "direct its prohibitions" only at arbitration, but 

apply equally to all contracts that attempt to restrict the right of a nursing home resident 

to "commence an action." 

. In addition to the United States Supreme Court's recent denial of certiorari in 

Carter, there is a growing trend in other states to uphold this public policy. New Jersey 

also has a statute that expressly declares void as against public policy any provision or 

clause waiving or limiting the right to sue for negligence or malpractice in any admission 
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agreement or contract between a patient and a nursing home or assisted living facility 

licensed by the Department of Health and Senior Services. See N.J.S.A. §30: 13-8.1. 

Similarly, a California appellate court recently held that the public policy of 

protecting vulnerable nursing facility reSidents, as codified in California Health and 

Safety Code section 1430, which declares void as against public policy a nursing home 

resident's waiver of her right to bring a lawsuit in court against the facility for violations 

of the Patients Bill of Rights, was favored over the general policy favoring arbitration. 

Fitzhugh v. Granada Healthcare & Rehab., Cir., 58 Cal. Rptr. 3d 585 (1 st Dist.Cal. Ct. 

App. 2007). Likewise, in SA - PG Ocala, LLC v. Stokes; 935 So.2d 1242 (FI. 5th Dist. 

2006), and in Place at Vero Beach, Inc. v. Hanson, 953 So.2d 773, 775 (FI. 4th Dist. 

2007), different· Flori~aappellate courts held that arbitratio~ agreements that violate 

Florida's residents rights statute are contrary to public policy and void. "It would be 

against public policy to permit a nursing home to dismantle the protections afforded 

patients by the Legislature through the use of an arbitration agreement." SA-PG-Ocala, 

LLC v. Stokes, 935 So.2d at 1243. 

Similarly, the Oklahoma Supreme Court in Bruner v. Timber/ane Manor Ltd. Psp., 

155 P.3d 16 (Ok. 2006), considered the validity of an arbitration agreement executed in 

conjunction with the admission of a nursing home resident to Grace Living Center. In its 

in-depth analysis of the applicability of Oklahoma law in the enforcement of the 

arbitration agreement, the Oklahoma Supreme Court held that § 1-1939 of the Nursing 

Home Care Act, which prohibits arbitration agreements in the nursing home context, 

controls over § 1857 of the Oklahoma Uniform Arbitration Act, which announces a policy 

favoring arbitration. As recognized by the Bruner Court, the Nursing Home Care Act 

requires the State Department of Health to establish a comprehensive system of 
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licensure and certification to protect the health, welfare and safety of the residents and 

assure accountability for reimbursed care. 63 0.S.2001, § 1-1904. It also imposes 

·liability upon the nursing home owner and licensed administrator for intentional or 

negligent injury to a resident, and it declares a resident's waiver of the right to 

commence an action against the owner or administrator or to have a jury trial thereon to 

be nUll, void and without legal effect. 63 0.S.2001, § 1-1939. The Bnmer Court found 

this to be clear rejection of arbitration agreements between nursing homes and their 

residents to be binding and enforceable under Oklahoma law. 

Plaintiff anticipates that Defendants will argue that the Federal Arbitration Act 

preempts state law that invalidates or undercuts the enforceability of an arbitration 

agreement. Such argument, however, ignores the fact that W. Va. Code § 16-5C-1 

does not specifically target arbitration agreements but instead prohibits "any waiver" of 

the "right to commence an action." See W. Va. Code § 16-5C-15(c). Citing Southland 

Corporation v. Keating, 465 U.S. 1, 11, 16, 104 S.Ct. 852, 79 L.Ed.2d 1 (1984) and 

Perry v. Thomas, 482 U.S. 483, 107 S.Ct. 2520, 96 L.Ed.2d 426 (1987), this Court has 

recently recognized that the Federal Arbitration Act preempts state law that would 

directly invalidate or undercut the enforceability of arbitration agreements specifically. 

State ex rei. Clites v. Clawges, 685 S.E.2d 693 ~.Va. 2009). This is simply not the 

case here. 

As the Illinois Appellate Court opined, and the United States Supreme's Court's 

implicitly approved in Carter, supra, if the public policy at iSsue concerns the validity, 

revocability, and enforceability of contracts generally and does not specifically target 

ai'bitration agreements, it presents a legitimate state law contract defense of a violation 

of public policy to the agreements and thereby voids the agreements. Respectfully, the 
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Carter opinion is plainly persuasive authority to be considered by this Court and for 

which Defendants have no response. 

Plaintiff further anticipates that Defendants will argue that because some of the 

relief provided for in §16-5C-15(c), including injunctive and declaratory relief, is not 

being sought here, Section 16-5C-15(c) does not prohibit the waiver at issue. This 

argument is not supported by the statutory language or any authority. Section 16-5C-

15(c) prohibits any waiver of the right to bring an action, not just the right to bring an 

action seeking certain types relief. Thus, such argument would be without merit. 

This Court, like the Appellate Courts in other states discussed above, should 

conclude that because the public policy expressed in § 16-5C-15(c) concerns the 

validity, revocability, and enforceability of contracts generally and does not specifically 

target arbitration agreements, it presents a legitimate state law contract· defense of a 

violation of public policy. As stated previously, the code section quoted herein does not 

specifically prohibit arbitration, rather it specifically prohibits any waiver of a resident's 

right for certain specific relief, some of which could not be awarded by an arbitrator, 

mediator, or other alternative dispute resolution methods. Plaintiff therefore submits 

that reversal of the Circuit Court is appropriate. 

b. 'rhe Circuit Court failed to find that Defendants waived the right to 
compel arbitration . 

. Additionally, in this matter the Defendants clearly took actions that were 

inconsistent with the right to compel arbitration. On this basis alone, Defendants' 

Motion should have been denied. As this Court explained in State ex rei. the Barden 

and Robeson Corp. v. Hill, 539 S.E.2d 106 cYV Va. 2000), "as with any contract right, an 

arbitration requirement may be waived through the conduct of the parties." In Hill, a 
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church brought suit against builders it had hired to construct an addition to the church 

building. The contract between the church and the builders contained an arbitration 

provision. The church subsequently filed suit, alleging that the construction had not 

been conducted in accordance with the terms of the agreement. The Complaint was 

served but the builders did not file an answer, and the church moved for default 

judgment. The builders then moved to set aside the judgment. Among the builders' 

argument· was that the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction due to the arbitration 

agreement. On appeal, the Court noted that "unexcused conduct that results in the 

entry of a default judgment is no less of an implicit waiver of a right to arbitration than 

any other procedural forfeiture." Id. at 112. 

In the instant case, Plaintiffs Complaint was filed on January 7, 2008. Plaintiff 

'filed an amended Complaint on July 2, 2008, and completed service on Defendants on 

August 4 and August 18, 2008, respectively. The Defendants at bar initially failed to 

answerthe Complaint. Plaintiff filed an application for default on September 30, 2008, 

and subsequently moved for default judgment. The application was later withdrawn, 

but here, as in Hill, the unexcused conduct of the Defendants is an implicit waiver of the 

right to compel·arbitration. 

Additionally, in American Reliable Ins. Co. v. Stillwell, 212 F. Supp.2d 621 (N.D. 

W. Va. 2002), the federal district court stated: 

A party may waive its right to insist on arbitration if the party "so 
substantially utiliz[es] the litigation machinery that to subsequently permit 
arbitration would prejudice the party opposing the stay." ... But even in 
cases where the party seeking arbitration has invoked the "litigation 
machinery" to some degree "[t]he dispositive question is whether the party 
objecting to arbitration has suffered actual prejudice". 

Id. at 628. 
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Because Defendants substantially utilized the litigation machinery, they should 

not be. able to later compel arbitration. After answering the Amended Complaint, 

Defendant Canoe Hollow Properties moved for dismissal of the claims against it. This 

Motion was heard by the Circuit Court and was ultimately granted and is part of the 

instant appeal. In addition, the parties conducted depositions and were working 

pursuant to an agreed scheduling order to move this case toward trial. See Agreed 

Scheduling Order and Correspondence from Defendants discussing witness Plaintiffs 

witness list and the expert disclosures of both parties pursuant to the scheduling order, 

attached to Plaintiffs Petition. for Appeal. Further, Defendants responded to discovery 

propounded by Plaintiff and have, in turn, propounded their own discovery requests 

upon Plaintiff. See Defendants' Certificate of Service of discovery requests, attached to 

Plaintiffs Petition for Appeal. These acts are wholly inconsistent with Defendants' 

position and the Circuit Court's ruling that arbitration is the proper forum for this matter. 

At a minimum, if Defendants truly intended to arbitrate this matter, they wasted 

the Circuit Court's valuable time and resources by involving it in a matter that, in 

Defendants' apparent view, was improperly before the Court in the first place. Plaintiff 

submits, however, that Defendants clearly waived their right to attempt to compel

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