IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Clayton Brown, as guardian for  
And on Behalf of Clarence Brown

SUPREME COURT NO: 35494

APPELLANT

v.

Genesis Healthcare Corporation;  
Genesis Healthcare Holding Company II, Inc.;  
Genesis Health Ventures, Inc. of West  
Virginia; Genesis Eldercare Corporation,  
Genesis Eldercare Network Services, Inc.;  
Genesis Eldercare Management Services, Inc.;  
Genesis Eldercare Rehabilitation Services, Inc.;  
Genesis Eldercare Staffing Services, Inc.; Genesis  
Eldercare Hospitality Services Inc.; Marmet SNF Operations LLC;  
1 Sutphin Drive Associates LLC; 1 Sutphin Drive Operations, LLC;

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

### **III. ARGUMENT**

#### **A. The Admissions Agreement is valid and enforceable**

Appellant argues the Admissions Agreement is not enforceable because Appellant signed it years after Gordy had first been admitted as a resident; it lacked consideration; it is

---

<sup>1</sup> After the settlement with Genesis, Mr. Brown's family sent a card to Marmet thanking them for the wonderful care they had given Gordy.

unconscionable; and because it did not have the exact legal name of Marmet.<sup>2</sup> These arguments lack merit.

Appellant voluntarily entered into different contracts at different times for Marmet to provide for Gordy's care. The Admissions Agreement of March 2004 is the applicable contract here. In that contract, Marmet agreed to provide various services for Gordy's care. The Agreement included an arbitration provision because Marmet had lost its liability insurance coverage through no fault of its own. That coverage couldn't be purchased then. It was unavailable. Appellant agreed to pay for Marmet's services. This is sufficient consideration to support the contract and the arbitration provision. There is no requirement that the arbitration provision be supported by separate consideration exclusive to it. In fact, it is illegal under the federal regulations governing Medicare rates and reimbursement for a provider like Marmet to alter the rates of reimbursement and charges for its care. Those rates are set by the government and are not subject to individual adjustment by the provider. Marmet could not legally do so even if it chose to do so. Marmet<sup>3</sup> promised to provide and in fact provided daily nursing home care and assistance to Gordy.<sup>4</sup> These activities were coordinated, monitored and regularly reviewed by case managers at Marmet. Appellant was notified of regular meetings held to discuss Mr. Brown's progress and participated in some of them. In exchange, Appellant, as the legal guardian of Mr. Brown, promised to pay a fixed fee for the services. At times, the cost of

---

<sup>2</sup> The Amicus Brief alleges that Appellant as a "mere representative" of Mr. Brown had no right to agree to arbitration on Mr. Brown's behalf. This is simply not true. Appellant was fully empowered to enter into contracts on Mr. Brown's behalf as his Guardian, by virtue of that appointment in 1996 in accordance with W.Va. Code 44A. See also, *Estate of Eckstein ex rel. Luckey v. Life Care Centers of America, Inc.*, 623 F.Supp.2d 1235 (E.D. Wash. 2009) and *Owens v. Coosa Valley Health Care, Inc.*, 890 So.2d 983 (Ala. 2004) guardian has authority to bind nursing home resident in arbitration agreements.

<sup>3</sup> There is no question the party Appellant sued is the same as the entity that signed the contract, is referenced in it and which provided Mr. Brown's care over eleven years. See, *Fayetteville Bldg. and Loan Assn. v. Mutual Fire Ins. Co. Of West Virginia*, 141 S.E. 634 (W.Va. 1928)

<sup>4</sup> The staff was also very fond of Gordy and provided emotional support. As summed up by CNA Cathy Eller, who was there the day Mr. Brown first came to Marmet, "everybody got attached to him" and "it was a sad day when he left."

this care exceeded the fixed payment to Marmet.<sup>5</sup> This is a classic case of quid pro quo.

Additionally, Appellant was afforded and reminded of the many rights available to him under the contract and the law, including filing any grievances with the director of Social Services, State Department of Health, Long-Term Care Ombudsman or the Nursing Home Advisory Committee, as well as the right to have his room reserved for medical and non-medical leave of absence.

The contract was not ‘unreasonably favorable’ to Marmet. Appellant needed to provide Marmet only 7 days’ notice in the case of a voluntary discharge, while Marmet was required to give 30 days’ notice. Mr. Brown could not be discharged because of a change in the payment source for the service or because of a change in his care needs. When Mr. Brown left the facility for hospitalizations or non-medical reasons, Appellant, as legal guardian, could and did demand Marmet hold Mr. Brown’s room until he returned. Appellant, as legal guardian, retained the right to direct the spending of funds in Mr. Brown’s discretionary account and to direct the method of payment through Medicaid. In fact, Appellant took advantage of many of these services during Mr. Brown’s long stay at Marmet. The truth is Appellant knew, when he signed the contract containing the arbitration provision, Mr. Brown was beloved, long-time and well cared for resident of Marmet and that is why Appellant continued to use Marmet as a care facility for Mr. Brown. If Appellant ever felt otherwise, he was free to take Mr. Brown to any one of a number of similar facilities in the Kanawha Valley. He never did so.

There is no evidence to support a claim of duress when Appellant signed the contract. Marmet personnel explained the agreement to the Appellant. Appellant had every opportunity to read it and never asked for more time to consider it. Appellant testified he considered other places for Gordy, but kept him at Marmet because Appellant was happy with the care.

---

<sup>5</sup> For example, Medicaid would not authorize payment for a medication Marmet felt would benefit Mr. Brown so Marmet provided the medication at no cost.

Appellant also alleges Marmet was in a superior bargaining position and fraudulently induced him into signing the contract. There is no evidence offered to support such a claim. It is baseless and undermined by uncontroverted facts and Appellant's testimony. Appellant is an educated, sophisticated man. He graduated high school and went to college. He was in the military and has worked as a salesman, millwright and clerk. He was familiar with Marmet and its staff. During the entire time Mr. Brown was a resident of Marmet, Appellant had ample opportunity to observe Mr. Brown's care. Appellant visited the facility during Mr. Brown's stay and was involved in Mr. Brown's treatment plan. He was free to discharge Mr. Brown at any time. Mr. Brown was, at times, admitted to the hospital for care and after discharge from the hospital, re-admitted to Marmet at Appellant's request. Appellant was consistently and regularly informed of his rights as the legal guardian to have any number of social services investigate the care and treatment of Mr. Brown. During this time, Appellant investigated other facilities in the area, but didn't transfer Gordy because "...I liked the way [Marmet] treated Gordon--or cared for Gordon." Dep. p. 53.

Appellant's brief states that the Agreement was not explained before Appellant "apparently" signed it. This is contrary to Appellant's testimony. Appellant testified the contract was explained to him, he was given time to read it and he signed it.

Q. So you signed a document then—

A. They explained it to me as I went if I remember, you know. I would assume that's what happened. I don't remember even signing it.

Q. ...you recognize your signature?

A. Yes.

Q. So you know you signed it?

A. Yes. Dep. p. 68.

.....

Q. ...[t]here wasn't anything that prevented you from reading it even if you didn't, you may have read it, you just don't know whether you did or not?

A. Right. Dep. p. 73

.....

Q. You agree with me that that paragraph that you just read says that if you've got a dispute against Marmet regarding the care of your brother that you've agreed to submit it to final and binding arbitration, right?

A. Right.

Q. And that's part of a document that you signed back on March the 26<sup>th</sup> of 2004 –

A. Okay.

Q. And that's what you agreed to do if you had such a dispute, correct?

A. That's what I signed, right. Dep. p. 74-75.

.....

Q. When you agree to something, Mr. Brown, is your word your bond?

A. Yes.

Q. Is there a reason that your word should not be your bond in this case?

(Objection by counsel.)

A. I don't see why not.

Q. You don't see any reason why your word shouldn't be your bond in this case?

A. It should be.

Q. It should be? You agreed to arbitrate four-and-a-half years ago if you had a dispute with Marmet, right?

A. Yes.

Q. That's in fact what you have here in this lawsuit a dispute against Marmet, right?

A. Yes.

Dep p 71, lines 9-24, and 72, line 1.

The Arbitration Agreement does not unduly favor either party. Here, the arbitration agreement places the same obligations and conditions upon both the Appellant and Marmet. It does not limit or expand discovery, damages or any rights of either party. The Arbitration clause does not limit appeal rights, nor does it limit the Appellant's damages. The arbitration clause does not reduce either party's access to remedies, but merely changes the forum to resolve a dispute. Appellant can institute suit and a court can enforce any arbitration result. Appellant's argument that the arbitration provision waives a "fundamental constitutional right" is misleading. Every arbitration agreement does so. That is the nature of arbitration. However, that is no less true for Marmet as for Appellant. Any waivers are not unilateral, but mutual. Both *parties* waived their right to have any claim arising from the care of Mr. Brown decided by a court of law and, in the alternative, agreed to arbitrate. Both parties have equal rights in arbitration. Appellant argues incorrectly that Marmet's only "foreseeable" claims against a resident would be

for collection of monies and therefore the arbitration clause is grossly unfair. This is wrong. For example, Marmet may want to cease care for a non-delinquent, disruptive patient, or Marmet may disagree with a course of treatment authorized by someone with medical authority over a resident. In either case, Marmet could not resort to litigation, but is bound by the arbitration provision.

Moreover, even if Marmet did not have to arbitrate any of its claims, that does not make the contract unconscionable. See, for example, **Miller v. Equifirst Corporation of WV**, 2006 WL 2571634 (S.D.W.Va 2006). In **Miller**, plaintiffs alleged that the Arbitration Agreement they signed along with loan agreements was an invalid because the defendant retained access to judicial form for certain claims and arbitration for others while the plaintiff was required to arbitrate all claims.<sup>6</sup> In dismissing plaintiffs' argument, the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia concluded that when considering a totality of circumstances as a matter of law, such a retention of rights by the defendant is not so one-sided as to render the agreement unenforceable. *Id.* at 11.

The Agreement here is evenly balanced. It had adequate consideration, was not unduly unfair to Appellant and did not state unreasonable terms. The Appellant was not pressured to sign the Agreement. He was provided an opportunity to confer with counsel. He did not do so. He was a reasonably educated, intelligent, experienced person, who had been involved in his brother's care decisions for many years. He had considered, but rejected moving his brother to other facilities because he liked the treatment his brother received at Marmet. Appellant admits

---

<sup>6</sup> The Amicus brief cites **Arnold v. United Companies Lending Corporation**, 511 S.E2d 854 (W.Va. 1998) for support. **Miller**, however, distinguished **Arnold** for the same reasons argued here. In **Arnold** the plaintiffs had no education and had waived their rights to recover consequential, punitive and treble damages and had waived the right to appeal an award rendered by an arbitrator. The Lending institution was a national organization who had solicited the plaintiffs at home and under the contract would not be subject to arbitration for any of its claims.

Marmet explained the Agreement to him. There is **no evidence** Marmet misrepresented the terms of the Agreement, took advantage of Appellant, or refused to allow Appellant ample time to review it or to seek legal counsel. Appellant did not feel threatened or coerced, nor was the contract presented on a “take it or leave it” basis. Appellant made a meaningful choice to sign the Agreement. Whatever parade of horrors one might seek to conjure to protect helpless victims from overreaching, unconscionable agreements, none is present here. This is not David versus Goliath, or anything approaching it. The reality here is that Appellant, now after securing counsel, seeks for himself a way to undo that which he voluntarily agreed to do (arbitrate), so that he may attempt to maximize his recovery. Appellant asks the Court to protect Appellant from himself. Respectfully, there is no legal or factual basis for the Court to do so.

The Court can assume Appellant intended to abide by the Agreement as drafted absent fraud, misrepresentation, duress, or the like, of which there is no evidence here. See, **Schultz v. AT&T Wireless Services, Inc.**, 376 F. Supp. 2d 685 (N.D.W.Va. 2005). Many other jurisdictions have reviewed this same issue and enforced arbitration provisions signed by nursing home residents as a part of admissions agreements. See, **Mariner Health Care, Inc. v. Weeks**, 2006 WL 2056588 (N.D. Miss 2006) person is charged with knowing the contents of the document he signs; **Etting v. Regents Park at Aventura, Inc.**, 891 So.2d 558 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2d 2008) resident’s blindness did not render agreement invalid; **Mitchell v. Kindred Health care Operating**, 2008 WL 493650 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2008), appeal denied, poor memory not enough to make agreement unconscionable; **Fortune v. Castle Nursing Homes, Inc.**, 2007 WL 4227458 (Ohio Ct. App. 5<sup>th</sup> 2007) 70 year old former factory worker was savvy enough to understand contract; See also, **Community Care Center of Vicksburg, LLC v. Mason**, 966

So. 2d 220 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) and **Estate of Eckstein ex rel. Luckey v. Life Care Centers of America, Inc.**, 623 F.Supp2d 1235 (E.D. Wash. 2009).

It is presumed that an arbitration provision in a written contract was intended to be the exclusive means of resolving disputes arising under the contract unless the contract provision was unconscionable. See, **Strawn v. AT&T Mobility, Inc.**, 593 F.Supp2d 894 (S.D.W. Va. 2009) and **State of West Virginia ex rel. Dunlap v. Berger**, 211 W.Va. 549 (2002). In order to prove that a contract provision is unconscionable, the Appellant must prove that there was a “*gross inadequacy* in bargaining power” **and** “terms *unreasonably favorable* to the stronger party.” **Troy Mining Corp. v. Itmann Coal Co.**, 176 W.Va. 599, 604 (1986)) (emphasis supplied) and see, **Art's Flower Shop, Inc. v. Chesapeake and Potomac Tel. Company Of West Virginia, Inc.**, 13 S.E.2d 670, 674 (1991) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Contracts 234 comment \*637 d) and see e.g., **Board of Ed. of the County of Berkeley v. W. Harley Miller, Inc.**, 236 S.E.2d 439 (W.Va. 1977).

Appellant simply hasn't done so. A bargain is not unconscionable merely because the parties to it are unequal in bargaining position, or even because an inequality results in an allocation of risks to the weaker party. The mere inequity of bargaining power alone does not indicate an unconscionable contract. See, **Adkins**, at 636. However, there is no evidence to suggest that the Appellant was in an “unequal” bargaining position. In fact, here Appellant could still have secured admission to Marmet without agreeing to arbitrate. He also could have taken his brother elsewhere. Given all these facts, the Appellant doesn't qualify for any exceptions to the general rule.

Nor does the fact that Appellant waived the right to a jury trial require the Court to evaluate the agreement to arbitrate under a more demanding standard. When a party waives his

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